01 mg A11.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID A DATE

PATRICIA A. SHARON,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 75,391

STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON PETITION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Stevan T. Northcutt, Esq. LEVINE, HIRSCH, SEGALL & NORTHCUTT, P.A. Florida Bar No. 262714
Ashley Tower, Suite 1600
Post Office Box 3429
Tampa, Florida 33601-3429
(813) 229-6585
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

Contents

Authorities	. ii
The Case and Facts	. 1
Summary of Argument	. 3
Argument	. 5

Summary of Argument

The public policy of Florida is that an insured under an uninsured motorist insurance policy is entitled to recover thereunder to the same extent and in the same circumstances as he would if the uninsured tortfeasor had carried liability insurance. Insurance policy provisions which narrow the circumstances under which coverage is furnished violate public policy and are void.

In Reid v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., infra, this Court upheld the family-household exclusion. And it found an exception to the general rule against narrowing uninsured motorist coverage in the form of the "same policy" exclusion, where to fail to

enforce the provision would nullify the family-household exclusion.

Both the Fifth District in <u>Jernigan</u>, and the Second District in <u>Brixius</u>, appear to recognize that the "same policy" exclusion has no efficacy outside the family-household context. However, because of a footnote in <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Boynton</u>, infra, the district courts differ as to whether this Court has held as much.

Ms. Sharon submits that the "same policy" exclusion is, or should be, without force outside the family-household context. For, except in such circumstances, it serves no salutary policy purpose standing alone. It is therefore insufficient to overcome the public policy behind Florida's uninsured motorist insurance law.

Argument

IN THE ABSENCE OF CIRCUMSTANCES GIVING RISE TO THE FAMILY HOUSEHOLD EXCLUSION, THE "SAME POLICY" EXCLUSION IS AN INVALID LIMITATION ON UNINSURED MOTORIST PROTECTION.

This case presents a conflict of district court of appeal decisions as to the existence or scope of an exception to the public policy of Florida regarding uninsured motorist insurance.

The courts whose decisions are at issue, the Second and Fifth Districts, appear not to disagree as to how the issue should be resolved; rather, they disagree as to whether or how this Court has resolved it.

A. Public policy.

As prescribed by the legislature in section 627.727(1), Florida Statutes, uninsured motorist insurance is intended to protect the insured under all circumstances and locations when he is injured by an uninsured motorist, as if the uninsured motorist had carried liability insurance. Thus, the uninsured motorist statute establishes the public policy of Florida to be that every insured is entitled to recover under the policy for damages he would have been able to recover from the negligent driver if that motorist had maintained liability insurance.2/

^{2/} In pertinent part, the statute states: "No motor vehicle Tiability insurance policy shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any specifically insured or identified motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless uninsured motor vehicle coverage is provided therein or supplemental thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages (continued...)

Since the scope of uninsured motorist coverage is prescribed by law, the parties are unable to contract for lesser coverage, with the exception that the insured may reject the coverage altogether. Insurance policy provisions which operate to narrow the prescribed scope of uninsured motorist coverage contravene the public policy, and therefore they are invalid. Salas v.

Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Co., 272 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972);

Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d

229 (Fla. 1971); Hodges v. National Union Indemnity Co., 249

So.2d 679 (Fla. 1971); Brown v. Progressive Mutual Insurance Co.,

249 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1971).

B. Exceptions.

In Reid v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 352 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 1977), the plaintiff was injured while riding as a passenger in the family car, which had been insured under a policy obtained by her father. The plaintiff's sister, who resided in the household, was driving the car at the time, and her negligence caused the accident in which the plaintiff was injured.

Rejecting the plaintiff's attempt to recover under the liability provisions of the insurance policy, this Court upheld the so-called family-household exclusion. "The reason for the

^{2/(...}continued)
from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of
bodily injury, sickness, or disease, including death, resulting
therefrom. However, the coverage required under this section is
not applicable when, or to the extent that, any insured named in
the policy rejects the coverage in writing."

exclusion is obvious: to protect the insurer from over friendly or collusive lawsuits between family members." Id. at 1173.

In a consolidated appeal the Court also rejected the plaintiff's assertion that, if liability insurance benefits were not available to her, she was entitled to recover under the uninsured motorist portion of the policy. The policy in question contained another exclusion providing that an "uninsured motor vehicle" may not be the vehicle defined in the policy as the insured motor vehicle.

In other words, her father's car can not be an uninsured motor vehicle under the terms of the policy, even though, as we held in the first appeal, it is in fact uninsured as to her.

We hold that the family car in this case is not an uninsured motor vehicle. It is insured and it does not become uninsured because liability coverage may not be available to a particular individual. Taylor v. Safeco Insurance Co., 298 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974); Centennial Insurance Co. v. Wallace, 330 So.2d 815 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

Reid, 352 So.2d at 1173.

The Court held that the case before it presented an exception to the general rule that an insurer may not limit the applicability of uninsured motorist protection. "To hold otherwise in this case would completely nullify the family-household exclusion." Reid, 352 So.2d at 1174.

Query: did <u>Reid</u> present an exception to the general rule because it involved family members residing in the same household? or because the uninsured motorist was driving a vehicle that was otherwise insured under the same policy?

But for one footnote, this Court's later decision in

Allstate Insurance Co. v. Boynton, 486 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1986),

would have seemed to imply the former. In that case the Court

rejected the notion that a vehicle cannot be considered uninsured

if it is covered by liability insurance.

The fact that an owner or operator of a motor vehicle has a liability insurance policy does not always mean that the vehicle is insured in the context of section 627.727(1). A vehicle is insured in this context only when the insurance in question is available to the injured plaintiff.

Boynton, 486 So.2d at 555. The Court disapproved <u>Centennial</u>

<u>Insurance Co. v. Wallace</u>, which had been cited in <u>Reid</u> for the opposite conclusion. Boynton, 486 So.2d at 554, n.4.

Thus, in a situation that did not involve the family-household exclusion or its salutary purpose, the Court reasoned that a vehicle on which liability insurance was maintained <u>could</u> be considered uninsured if the liability coverage on the vehicle was not available to the injured plaintiff.

But in its only reference to Reid, the Boynton Court did not mention that the earlier case involved the family-household exclusion. Rather:

Allstate, citing [Reid], asserts in its brief that a valid exclusion in a liability policy does not make a vehicle uninsured for uninsured motorist purposes. In Reid, we held that a vehicle cannot be both an insured and uninsured vehicle under the same policy. The present case is distinguishable because it involves separate policies. Reid is inapplicable.

Boynton, 486 So.2d at 555, n.5 (Emphasis by the Court).

C. The conflict.

Jernigan v. Progressive American Insurance Co., 501 So.2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), involved a factual scenario that was materially identical to the instant case: the plaintiff was injured while riding as a passenger in a vehicle owned by him and on which he maintained insurance, but which was negligently driven by an uninsured friend. The plaintiff's insurance policy provided, inter alia, that:

"Uninsured motor vehicle", however, does not mean a vehicle:

a. Owned by or furnished or available for regular use by you or a relative.

* * * * *

Exclusions

This coverage does not apply to bodily injury sustained by a person:

1. While occupying a motor vehicle owned by you or a relative for which insurance is not afforded under this Part, or through being struck by the motor vehicle.

The Fifth District held that these provisions operated to deny the plaintiff benefits to which he was entitled under the uninsured motorist law, and that the provisions were therefore invalid as contrary to public policy.

In the course of its opinion, the <u>Jernigan</u> court acknow-ledged <u>Reid</u>'s holding that a vehicle could not be both insured and uninsured under the same policy. However, the court noted that Reid was premised on cases which reasoned that a vehicle did

not become uninsured simply because the insurance policy might not be available to a particular injured party.

[T]his reasoning has been replaced by the supreme court's pronouncement in Boynton that a vehicle is insured in the context of uninsured motorist coverage only where the insurance in question is available to the particular plain-Boynton, 486 So.2d at 555. Clearly, under the Boynton definition of an "uninsured vehicle," a vehicle can be insured and uninsured under the same policy. The definition of uninsured motor vehicle in the present policy is contrary to the Boynton test. The exclusion in the policy before us operates to deny the plaintiff coverage in a circumstance where he has been injured by the negligence of an unrelated operator of a vehicle as to which no liability insurance is available. Thus, to the extent that these policy provisions have denied the plaintiff protection for injuries caused by an uninsured motorist, we must declare them invalid as contrary to the public policy expressed in section 627.727, Florida Statutes.

Jernigan, 501 So.2d at 751 (footnote omitted).

Moreover, the <u>Jernigan</u> court posited, its holding was consistent with <u>Reid</u> and this Court's later decision in <u>Allstate</u> Insurance Co. v. Dascoli, 497 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1986).

In both Reid and Dascoli, the plaintiffs were attempting to recover under an uninsured motorist coverage held by their spouses, for injuries sustained while riding in a family vehicle. Valid exclusions in the liability policies prevented recovery by family members. Both the Reid and Dascoli decisions recognized that to permit recovery under the uninsured motorist policy in this circumstance would render the family exclusion meaningless. The result of declaring these uninsured motorist exclusions invalid would be to expose the insurer to the same threat of fraud and collusion that would be present if family members were permitted to recover under the liability policy.

* * * * * *

In the present case however the plaintiff was not injured by a family member. Neither did the policy exclude liability coverage for injuries caused by friends of the insured. Thus, declaring the uninsured motorist exclusion invalid does not defeat any valid liability exclusion.

Jernigan, 501 So.2d at 751 (footnotes omitted).

Brixius v. Allstate Insurance Co., 549 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), also involved facts identical to those presented here. And, as in this case, the insurance policy there provided that an uninsured motor vehicle was not a vehicle defined as an insured vehicle under the liability portion of the policy. Reviewing a summary judgment in favor of the insurer, the Second District acknowledged that <u>Jernigan</u> would have required a reversal. But the court declined to follow <u>Jernigan</u>, and affirmed.

We do not necessarily disagree with the reasoning set forth in <u>Jernigan</u> which supports the position that <u>Boynton</u> should have overruled <u>Reid</u> in these circumstances. <u>See Allstate Insurance Co. v. Dascoli</u>, 497 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1986), which approves the reasoning of this court in <u>Harrison v. Metropolitan Property & Liability Insurance Co.</u>, 475 So.2d 1370 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). But <u>Boynton</u> specifically distinguishes, and in effect reaffirms, <u>Reid</u> in the following language: [quotation omitted].

<u>Brixius</u>, 549 So.2d at 1192. The omitted quotation was of <u>Boynton's</u> footnote 5, set forth earlier in this brief.

D. The "same policy" exclusion.

At bottom, then, the conflict between <u>Brixius</u> and <u>Jernigan</u> rests on footnote 5 of the <u>Boynton</u> opinion, in which this Court distinguished <u>Reid</u> because it held a vehicle could not be insured and uninsured under the same policy, whereas <u>Boynton</u> involved separate policies.

By distinguishing <u>Reid</u> on that basis rather than on the fact that <u>Reid</u> had involved the family-household exclusion, <u>Boynton</u> could be read to imply that <u>Reid</u> recognized a "same policy" exclusion that was of a legal dignity equal to that of the family-household exclusion. If that was the case, Ms. Sharon submits it was not apparent on the face of the Reid opinion.

Recall that <u>Reid</u> tendered two justifications for its ruling on the uninsured motorist aspect of that case. First, the Court pointed to prior case law holding that an insured motor vehicle could not be treated as an uninsured vehicle simply because the liability coverage was not available to a particular individual. Second, the Court said that to hold otherwise in that case would have nullified the valid family-household exclusion.

Of course, the first rationale was undermined by the <u>Boynton</u> decision itself; an insured vehicle can be treated as uninsured precisely <u>because</u> the insurance benefits are unavailable to a particular individual.

Reid's second rationale expressly depended on the presence in that case of facts which invoked the family-household exclusion, the purpose of which was described as protecting the insurer from collusive lawsuits between family members. No mention was made of what independent policy objective might be served by enforcing the "same policy" exclusion standing alone.

That omission is significant. For, certainly, an exception to the public policy of the state should itself serve some important policy objective. Having articulated the policy served

by the family-household exclusion, <u>Reid</u> offered no justification for the "same policy" exclusion other than that, under the facts of that case, its enforcement was necessary to effectuate the family-household exclusion.

Not so here. Here, the family-household exclusion did not come into play. Had Mr. Napoli carried liability insurance, Ms. Sharon would have been entitled to recover thereunder for her injuries caused by his negligence.

Under the public policy of Florida, Ms. Sharon was entitled to uninsured motorist benefits under the same circumstances in which she could have recovered if Mr. Napoli had carried liability insurance. What policy objective is served by denying Ms. Sharon uninsured motorist coverage simply because the car Mr. Napoli drove was insured for liability under the same policy that furnished the uninsured motorist coverage? The answer is none.

Under like circumstances, the <u>Jernigan</u> court recognized that the "same policy" exclusion has no efficacy outside the family-household context in which it was applied in <u>Reid.3</u>/ The <u>Brixius</u> court did not disagree with <u>Jernigan</u>'s reasoning in that regard,

^{3/} In fact, the "same policy" exclusion is of only limited efficacy even in the family-household exclusion context. Insurers are just as vulnerable to fraud and collusion among family members in multiple vehicle and multiple policy situations. Obviously, in those cases the "same policy" exclusion would be no impediment to recovering uninsured motorist benefits. See, e.g., Salas v. Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Co., supra.; Lee v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 339 So.2d 670 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).

but considered itself bound to apply the "same policy" exclusion solely because of Boynton's footnote 5.

Ms. Sharon respectfully submits that the mentioned footnote was inaccurate or incomplete insofar as it suggested that the "same policy" exclusion may operate to restrict uninsured motorist coverage outside the family-household setting. In the absence of an important policy purpose, no circumstance can override the public policy of Florida that an insured is entitled to recover uninsured motorist benefits to the same extent as he would have recovered if the tortfeasor had carried liability insurance.

Conclusion

For the reasons described, Ms. Sharon respectfully requests the Court to reverse the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal below, and direct that the summary judgment in the insurer's favor be set aside.