IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICIA A. SHARON

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE No.: 75,391

MAR SO

Deputy Ciert

STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,

Respondent.

A PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF ON RESPONDENT STATE FARM FIRE & CASUALTY COMPANY

Robert L. Donald Florida Bar No. 218219 Bruce D. Austin Florida Bar No. 251585 Dee Ann Setchell Florida Bar No. 562343 HAAS, BOEHM, BROWN, RIGDON, & SEACREST, P.A. Counsel for Respondent Hendury 15 33 -300-6. Hyde Park ste. 201 Post Office Box 2151 Tampa, Florida 33601 POBOX 9388 (813) 254-2572 Fort myors 33902 (83) 332-1300

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court held in <u>Reid</u> that the owned-vehicle exclusion from UM coverage is valid, and that a vehicle insured under the liability portion of the policy cannot be considered "uninsured" under the UM portion of the policy. This Court's later decision in <u>Boynton</u> did not turn on the owned-vehicle exclusion, and does not detract from the <u>Reid</u> rationale. <u>Boynton</u> held that a vehicle could be considered "uninsured" when liability coverage is excluded under a <u>separate</u> policy of insurance. Justice Ehrlich noted in <u>Boynton</u> that <u>Reid</u> had involved only one policy, and hence its holding was not applicable to the facts of <u>Boynton</u>. This is a valid distinction, since the family exclusion and the owned-vehicle exclusion are not implicated when liability coverage is denied under a separate policy.

In <u>Jernigan</u> the Fifth District failed to recognize that <u>Reid</u> must apply when there is only one policy of insurance involved. It attempted to distinguish <u>Reid</u> on the basis of the tortfeasor's status, but an analysis of <u>Reid</u> as well as the family and ownedvehicle exclusions shows that this is not a valid distinction. The Second District realized this and refused to follow <u>Jernigan</u>.

The Third and Fourth Districts have likewise held contrary to <u>Jernigan</u>.

In <u>Jernigan</u> the Fifth District erroneously assessed <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u>, and the distinction drawn by the Fifth District is not supported by any legal rationale, contractual language, or public policy reason. This family exclusion is at the very foundation of automobile insurance law, and to allow UM coverage where the family exclusion prohibits it would be disastrous from a policy perspective. The Second District in the instant case correctly perceived the weakness of the <u>Jernigan</u> decision, and it is therefore respectfully submitted that the Second District's decision should be approved.

ARGUMENT

An understanding of this Court's decisions in <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u> is pivotal to the resolution of the conflict here presented, since both the Fifth and Second Districts acknowledged in their respective opinions that these are the key cases. An analysis of these two cases, and several others that have commented upon them, will demonstrate, it is respectfully submitted, that the Fifth District's <u>Jernigan</u> decision was based on faulty reasoning and that the Second District was eminently correct in holding as it did.

I. THE PERTINENT DECISIONS

The starting point for any discussion of UM exclusions must be this Court's epic <u>Mullis</u> decision, where it was held that

exclusions from UM coverage are not favored and will be closely scrutinized from a public-policy perspective. But over the years one UM exclusion has consistently withstood this heightened judicial scrutiny, and that is the owned-vehicle exclusion here in question.

A. This Court's Reid Decision

Reid is the seminal case on the owned-vehicle exclusion, and is discussed in all of the subsequent cases dealing with the In <u>Reid</u> the plaintiff was injured while riding in a exclusion. car owned by her father and driven by her sister. Liabilitv coverage was not available to the plaintiff because she was a relative of the named insured, and hence excluded from coverage on the basis of the "family exclusion." The family exclusion will be discussed in more detail below, but the general purpose of such exclusions is to preclude the named insured or his family members from recovering under the liability portion of the policy.¹ Coverage was also not available under the UM portion of the policy, since the "owned-vehicle exclusion" denied coverage where the injury was caused by a vehicle owned by the named insured or a family member.

The plaintiff in <u>Reid</u> argued that she was entitled to UM coverage under her policy, since there was no liability insurance available by virtue of the family exclusion. She further argued

 $^{^{1}}$ The State Farm policy here in question contained a family exclusion. (R 24)

that the owned-vehicle exclusion from UM coverage was an invalid attempt to limit UM coverage under <u>Mullis</u>. This Court rejected the argument, holding that the vehicle insured under the liability portion of a policy "does not become uninsured because liability coverage may not be available to a particular individual." 352 So.2d at 1173. That is exactly the situation in the instant case, as the Second District correctly recognized. <u>Reid</u> simply cannot be distinguished from the instant case in any meaningful way.

This Court held as it did in <u>Reid</u> to preserve the family exclusion from liability coverage. If an injured family member can obtain UM benefits because liability coverage is denied under the family exclusion, then the family exclusion would be totally negated. So the family exclusion and the owned-vehicle exclusion go hand-in-hand, and the failure to enforce the latter vitiates the former.

The Plaintiff asserts throughout her Initial Brief that <u>Reid</u> turned on the fact that the tortfeasor was the injured party's sister. This point will be discussed in more detail below, but it is important to observe that the <u>Reid</u> opinion on its face refutes the Plaintiff's argument. Only in the initial discussion of the facts does <u>Reid</u> disclose that the tortfeasor was the plaintiff's sister, and nowhere in the body of the opinion does this fact play a role in the legal reasoning. Rather, at every instance this Court made it clear that its decision turned on the

status of the injured plaintiff, and <u>not</u> the status of the tortfeasor:

1. This Court observed that coverage had been denied under the liability portion of the policy on the basis of the "provision in the policy that the insurance does not apply to bodily <u>injury to any insured</u>" 352 So.2d at 1173. (Emphasis added.) So the key factor is the status of the injured passenger under the family exclusion.

2. The next pertinent language in <u>Reid</u> is found in the discussion of the owned-vehicle exclusion to UM coverage: "In other words, her father's car cannot be an uninsured motor vehicle under the terms of the policy, even though, as we held in the first appeal [dealing with liability coverage], it is in fact uninsured <u>as to her</u>." <u>Id</u>. (Emphasis added.) So again, this Court's focus was upon the status of the injured plaintiff/passenger, and not the tortfeasor/driver.

The Plaintiff has not, and cannot, point to any mention in <u>Reid</u> of the status of the tortfeasor/driver as being legally relevant. Rather, this Court's opinion turned solely on the status of the injured plaintiff/passenger. So the fact that the driver was related to the injured passenger is no way to distinguish <u>Reid</u> from the instant case. <u>Reid</u> turned, as it should have, solely on the basis of the status of the injured passenger. Thus <u>Reid</u> is on all fours with the instant case, as the Second District correctly recognized.

B. This Court's Boynton Decision

The next important decision for present purposes is Allstate Insurance Co. v. Boynton, 486 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1986). There the plaintiff was injured at his jobsite by a fellow employee. The plaintiff was a mechanic, and he was struck by a vehicle driven by a fellow mechanic. The owner had dropped off the vehicle at the shop for repairs. The plaintiff first sued his employer and the owner of the vehicle. His employer was dismissed on the basis of workers' compensation immunity, and the vehicle owner was dismissed on the basis of its legal status as a bailor. The plaintiff then sued the tortfeasor, i.e., his fellow mechanic that was driving the car that struck him. The fellow mechanic's liability insurer denied coverage on the basis of the exclusion in its policy for liability incurred in the course of a business pursuit.

The injured plaintiff then sued his own insurer (Allstate), contending that he was entitled to UM benefits because the tortfeasor did not have liability insurance available for this particular incident, and hence was "uninsured." The trial court ruled in favor of Allstate, and the plaintiff appealed. The Fifth District reversed, holding that there was UM coverage because no liability insurance was available to either the owner of the vehicle or the tortfeasor because of applicable exclusions, hence the vehicle was "uninsured" for purposes of the plaintiff's UM coverage. 443 So.2d at 429-30. The court went on to hold that the UM carrier could not utilize the workers'compen-

sation immunity that was available to the tortfeasor, because this would defeat the purpose of UM coverage. 443 So.2d at 430-31.

This Court then reviewed the Fifth District's decision, and agreed that the tortfeasor was "uninsured" because of the exclusions in the owner's and tortfeasor's insurance policies. 486 So.2d at 553 (App 8). Justice Ehrlich said that UM coverage can be found even when the vehicle in question is covered by a liability policy, "if that policy does not provide coverage for the particular occurrence that caused plaintiff's damages." Id. So Boynton did not turn on the owned-vehicle exclusion as does the instant case, since the vehicle causing the injury in Boynton was not insured under the liability portion of the plaintiff's policy. Rather, Boynton turned on the proper interpretation the language of the UM statute specifying that coverage must be available where the insured is injured by an "uninsured motor vehicle."

Justice Ehrlich distinguished <u>Reid</u> in a footnote to its opinion, stating that it was not applicable to the facts before the Court for the following reason:

> In <u>Reid</u>, we held that a vehicle cannot be both an insured and uninsured vehicle under the **same** policy. The present case is distinguishable because it involves separate policies. <u>Reid</u> is inapplicable.

> > (Emphasis in the original.)

486 So.2d at 555 (footnote 5)(App 10). So Justice Ehrlich expressly considered <u>Reid</u>, and held that it was distinguishable on the basis set forth above.

It should be noted that Justice Ehrlich did not distinguish <u>Reid</u> because the tortfeasor was unrelated to the injured plaintiff, as the Plaintiff attempts to do here. So Justice Ehrlich's pronouncement in <u>Boynton</u> once again verifies that <u>Reid</u> did not turn on the status of the tortfeasor; if this had been the rationale of <u>Reid</u>, this Court could have easily cited that fact in <u>Boynton</u> to distinguish <u>Reid</u>. It did not do so, and by implication rejected the argument the Plaintiff is making herein.

In <u>Boynton</u> Justice Ehrlich went on to hold that the Fifth District had erred in holding the workers' compensation defense was unavailable to the UM carrier. He said that the UM carrier stands in the shoes of the tortfeasor, and has any and all defenses available to him. So the bottom line was that the trial court's ruling in favor of the UM carrier was upheld.²

C. The Fifth District's Conflicting Jernigan Decision

In the <u>Jernigan</u> case the Fifth District attempted to synthesize <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u>, and, it is respectfully submitted, failed. The facts of <u>Jernigan</u> were identical to <u>Brixius</u> and the

² In a strict sense it could even be said that the holding as to the meaning of "uninsured vehicle" was <u>dicta</u>, since the second issue was dispositive. But the characterization of a pronouncement of this Court as <u>dicta</u> does not dispel the conflict between the instant case and <u>Jernigan</u>, nor in any way lessen the need to resolve the conflict.

instant case, namely, the plaintiff was injured while riding as a passenger in his own car while being driven by an uninsured friend with the plaintiff's permission.

In Jerniqan the insurer relied upon the owned-vehicle exclusion, but the trial court held the exclusion to be void as contrary to public policy. The Fifth District agreed that the exclusion was contrary to public policy, noting that this Court's <u>Mullis</u> decision and its progeny had struck down most attempts to limit UM coverage. Judge Orfinger relied especially on this Court's then-recent decision in Boynton, which stood for the proposition, Judge Orfinger said, that "the test for determining whether a vehicle is insured for purposes of uninsured motorist coverage is not whether the owner or operator of the vehicle has a liability insurance policy, but whether insurance is available to the injured Plaintiff." 501 So.2d at 750 (App 17). Judge Orfinger went on to express doubt as to whether Reid was still good law in instances where the driver is unrelated to the injured passenger. 501 So.2d at 751 (App 18). Thus the Fifth District held, contrary to the Second District in the instant case and Brixius, that an owned-vehicle exclusion is an invalid attempt to limit UM coverage.

D. <u>The Fourth District's decision in Allstate Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Baker</u>.

In <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Baker</u>, 543 So.2d 847 (Fla.4th DCA 1989) a child was injured while riding as a passenger in an automobile owned by her parents but driven by a family friend.

The driver was uninsured, and the child made a UM claim under her parents' policy. So the pertinent facts were identical to the instant case: the passenger was an insured under the policy and she was injured by the negligence of an unrelated tortfeasor/driver. The trial court held that there was UM coverage for the injured child under her parents' policy, but the Fourth District reversed. Judge Downey quoted the owned-vehicle exclusion from the UM portion of the policy, and said that such exclusions had been held valid in <u>Reid</u>.

Judge Downey distinguished <u>Jernigan</u> in an interesting way. The rationale for upholding owned-vehicle exclusions in the UM portion of the policy is that if such clauses were stricken down, family exclusions from liability coverage would also be invalidated by necessary implication. Judge Downey cited this rationale, and then observed that the Fifth District in Jernigan had apparently not been asked to consider a family exclusion in the liability portion of the policy before the court. Judge Downey said there was a family exclusion in the Allstate policy before him (as there is in the instant case), hence Jernigan was There is some doubt whether <u>Jernigan</u> can be not controlling. distinguished in the manner suggested by Judge Downey (see discussion on pp 17 and 18 hereof), and the Second District did not attempt to so distinguish <u>Jernigan</u> under identical facts in the instant case. But whether the distinction is valid or not, the fact remains that Baker reached the same conclusion as the Second District did in the instant case under identical facts.

<u>Jernigan</u> reached the opposite conclusion, again under identical facts. So <u>Jernigan's</u> interpretation of <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u> is impeached not only by the Second District, but also by the Fourth District.³

E. The Second District's Brixius Case Redux.

In <u>Brixius</u> Judge Lehan considered all of the cases set forth above (with the exception of <u>Baker</u>). He disagreed with the Fifth District's conclusion in <u>Jernigan</u> that this Court had somehow overruled <u>Reid</u> in the <u>Boynton</u> decision. He observed that in <u>Boynton</u> this Court had specifically discussed <u>Reid</u>, and had endorsed its continuing vitality. The Second District thus declined to follow <u>Jernigan</u>, opting instead for the higher authority of this Court as expressed in <u>Reid</u> and re-confirmed in <u>Boynton</u>.

II. THERE IS A REAL AND MEANINGFUL DISTINCTION BETWEEN <u>REID</u> AND <u>BOYNTON</u>

So what conclusions can be drawn from this group of cases? <u>Reid</u> clearly stands for the proposition that the owned-vehicle

³ The Third District can perhaps be added to the list of courts that have held contrary to <u>Jernigan</u>. In Pierson v. National Ins. Assoc., 15 FLW 552 (3d DCA Op. filed February 27, 1990)(App 25) the court upheld the validity of the family exclusion on the basis of <u>Reid</u>. Though the court did not disclose the underlying facts, both of the other cases cited with <u>Reid</u> involved circumstances where the driver of the car was not related to the injured/insured that was a passenger. So even though the Third District did not set forth the facts before it, they were likely similar to the instant ones. If so, the court's holding is consistent with the Second District's and contrary to <u>Jernigan</u>.

exclusion is valid, and a vehicle may not be considered "uninsured" under the UM portion of the policy if it would be "insured" in the liability portion but for the family exclusion. <u>Boynton</u> did not deal with an owned-vehicle exclusion, because there the vehicle causing the injury was not owned by the named insured or a family member. Rather, <u>Boynton</u> interpreted the language of the UM statute to mean that a vehicle could be considered "uninsured" for UM coverage, even though there would have been liability coverage under a <u>separate</u> policy but for an exclusion.

In <u>Jernigan</u> the Fifth District held that the rationale of <u>Boynton</u> was controlling, and that <u>Reid</u> is of doubtful continuing validity in the wake of <u>Boynton</u>. But what the Fifth District ignored was that this Court had explicitly discussed <u>Reid</u> in <u>Boynton</u>, and had set forth the key factor for distinguishing the applicability of the two cases. In <u>Boynton</u> Justice Ehrlich said that <u>Reid</u> did not apply because <u>Reid</u> had involved only one insurance policy. He noted that <u>Boynton</u> involved an exclusion from liability coverage under a <u>separate</u> policy of insurance, and that this was the distinguishing fact.

So the distinction between <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u> is fairly easy to draw. The vehicle causing the injury cannot be considered "uninsured" for UM purposes simply because the family exclusion to liability coverage applies to bar liability coverage under the owner's policy. This is the intended effect of the owned-vehicle exclusion, which this Court expressly held in <u>Reid</u> to be valid.

However, if the vehicle causing the injuries is <u>not</u> owned by the insured or his family, and therefore not subject to the ownedvehicle exclusion, the vehicle can be considered "uninsured" with respect to the injured person's UM coverage, since the faiure of liability coverage arises under a separate policy. So if there are two policies in question, there can be UM coverage. But if there is only one policy in question, there cannot be UM coverage. As this Court said in <u>Reid</u>, a vehicle cannot be an insured vehicle and an uninsured vehicle under the <u>same</u> policy.

In both the instant case and <u>Brixius</u> there was only one insurance policy involved, and the Second District correctly realized that <u>Reid/Boynton</u> dictated that UM coverage did not exist under such circumstances. <u>Jernigan</u> also involved a single policy, but somehow the Fifth District did not comprehend the straightforward distinction between <u>Reid</u> and <u>Boynton</u>. So the Fifth District failed to heed established precedents from this Court, and for that reason its decision should be disapproved.

III. THE FIFTH DISTRICT'S ATTEMPT TO DISTINGUISH <u>REID</u> WILL NOT STAND LOGICAL SCRUTINY

In <u>Jernigan</u> Judge Orfinger said that the court questioned the continuing application of <u>Reid</u> "in cases where no family exclusion or other bar to recovery is involved." 501 So.2d at 751 (App 18). So the court seemed to be saying that <u>Reid</u> would have continuing vitality where there is a "family exclusion" under the liability portion of the policy, but that no such exclusion was present in the case before the court. This

statement reveals a definite misunderstanding of the family exclusion, and a possible misunderstanding of the insurance policy that was before the court.

A. <u>The family exclusion from liability coverage and the</u> reciprocal effect of the owned-vehicle exclusion from <u>UM coverage</u>.

Automobile insurance policies invariably exclude liability coverage where the injury is to the named insured or a family member. Such "family exclusions" have been universally held to be valid. <u>See, e.g., Florida Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. GEICO</u>, 387 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1980). The State Farm policy here in question contained a family exclusion from liability coverage. (R 24)

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